SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2006-CA-01128

MILTON WATTS, Appellant,

vs.

RADIATOR SPECIALTY COMPANY and UNITED STATES STEEL CORPORATION, *Appellees*.

Appeal from Smith County Circuit Court Case No. 2002-364

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Eugene Coursey Tullos

TULLOS & TULLOS P.O. Box 74 Raleigh, Mississippi 39153 601.782.4242 Telephone 601.782.4439 Telephone

Lance H. Lubel J. Robert Black HEARD ROBINS CLOUD & LUBEL, LLP 3800 Buffalo Speedway, 5th Floor Houston, Texas 77098 713.650.1200 Telephone 713.650.1400 Facsimile Louis H. Watson, Jr. MBN

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court erred in granting judgment NOV after excluding the causation testimony regarding Mr. Watts's non-Hodgkins lymphoma when an alternative, unchallenged finding that Defendants caused his pancytopenia supports the jury's verdict and judgment in plaintiff's favor.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in its post-verdict striking of the plaintiff's expert's causation testimony regarding Mr. Watts's non-Hodgkins lymphoma, and in granting judgment NOV in defendants' favor, based on that post-verdict striking of the expert's testimony.
- III. Whether reversal and rendition of judgment on the jury verdict is proper since the trial court erred in granting judgment NOV and there is no alternative basis for affirming the trial court's take-nothing judgment.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

:

1.

•

!

t

,

i

i.

í

i

ί.

This appeal turns on whether the trial court improperly invaded the province of the jury when it disregarded the plaintiff's expert's causation testimony after the jury had returned a verdict in the plaintiff's favor. This case involves the disputed issue of whether benzene exposure can cause non-Hodgkins lymphoma. Because the issue in this appeal involves construing complex scientific testimony that was initially accepted by the trial court and was then excluded after the verdict, appellant believes that oral argument would assist the Court in its disposition of this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed this suit to recover for injuries that he suffered as a result of his exposure to benzene. Defendants sought summary judgment and sought to strike Plaintiff's causation expert, Dr. Levy. The trial court denied Defendants' motions for summary judgment and denied their motions to strike Dr. Levy.

The case was tried to a jury. At trial, Defendants sought a directed verdict, again challenging Dr. Levy's testimony. The trial court denied Defendants' requests and submitted the case to the jury.

The jury returned a verdict in Plaintiff's favor and the trial court entered judgment on the verdict, awarding plaintiff \$1,700,000.¹ Defendants filed a motion for judgment NOV and, alternatively, requested a new trial. The trial court granted Defendants' request for judgment NOV, adopting their arguments regarding Dr. Levy's causation testimony.² The trial court then signed a separate judgment, denying Plaintiff any relief and dismissing his suit with prejudice.³

ŗ

Ì

ŧ

.

1

4

÷

ļ.

ı.

÷

1

ļ

Į

1

ì

1

i :

£

Ι.

¹ **RECORD EXCERPT 2.**

² RECORD EXCERPT 3.

³ **RECORD EXCERPT 4.**

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiff, Milton Watts

į .

ţ

Į

ĺ

!

ł

ł

ŧ

Ł

ţ

ı

ŗ

ŧ.

1

; . i

i :

 The plaintiff, Milton Watts, was born in Decalb, Mississippi. TR. 1012. At the time of trial, Mr. Watts was 72 years old, and had been married to his wife, Lea, for 34 years. *Id.* Mr. Watts worked various jobs in his work career. He served in the military from 1949-1953. TR. 1017. He attended vocational school and trained to become a mechanic. TR. 1014. From 1953-1961, he worked various jobs at service stations, a packing company, and as an exterminator. TR. 1019. He consistently worked as a mechanic from 1953-1961. TR. 1020. In 1970, Mr. Watts began working at Masonite. TR. 1030. He worked at Masonite for 26 years, until 1996, when he retired. TR. 1044.

<u>The Product – Liquid Wrench – and Mr. Watts's Use of the Product</u>

Throughout his work career, Mr. Watts used a solvent called Liquid Wrench. Liquid Wrench was used to clean up – it was the solvent of choice – and was the only product on the market when Mr. Watts started using it. TR. 1021. Mr. Watts first used Liquid Wrench in 1947, during his vocational training to become a mechanic. TR. 1016.

Mr. Watts used Liquid Wrench several times a day for years. TR. 1022, 1023, 1042. He used it at Masonite when he worked on locomotives. TR. 1040. He cleaned parts with it, sometimes for hours at a time. TR. 1042, 1057. He used it in small, contained spaces. TR. 1041. And, he used it on hot surfaces. TR. 1095. As a result, when he used Liquid Wrench, he would get it on his skin. TR. 1117. When Mr. Watts used Liquid Wrench, he

-4-

did not wear gloves or a respirator because no one told him he should. TR. 1123. Had he been warned that Liquid Wrench could harm him, he would have worn gloves and a respirator. TR. 1125.

The Defendants, Radiator Specialty and U.S. Steel

f

÷

÷

i

i.

£

Radiator Specialty manufactured Liquid Wrench, which was made with a solvent – raffinate – that contained benzene. JW Depo. 49.⁴ Radiator Specialty purchased the benzene-containing raffinate from U.S. Steel.⁵ *Id.* at 50. Specifically, U.S. Steel produced rafinnate at its Clairton Works plant, and Radiator Specialty purchased the raffinate from U.S. Steel the mid-1950s. TR 188, 235; JG Depo. 38.⁶ From 1967-1978, virtually all of the benzene-containing raffinate that U.S. Steel sold it sold to Radiator Specialty. TR. 236.

⁴ Mr. Wells's deposition was offered into evidence during trial. TR. 99. The offers will be referred to as JW Depo. <u>page number</u>.

⁵ U.S. Steel may have been another legal entity at the time of the purchase of the raffinate, but it stipulated pretrial that it is the proper party defendant. TR. 2.

⁶ Mr. Graeber's deposition was offered into evidence during trial. TR. 274. The offers will be referred to as JG Depo. <u>page number</u>.

Radiator Specialty began producing benzene-containing Liquid Wrench with U.S. Steel's raffinate in 1941.⁷ *Id.* at 47. The benzene concentration in Liquid Wrench varied from 7-30%. TR. 813.

The Dangers Associated With Radiator Specialty's Benzene-Containing Liquid Wrench

٢

i

t

1

í

Neither Radiator Specialty nor U.S. Steel disputes that benzene exposure can cause serious problems that may result in death, TR. 192 (Johh Masaitis, U.S. Steel's corporate representative); damage to blood-forming organs, like bone barrow, TR. 202, 227 (Masaitis); anemia, TR. 252 (Masaitis); cancer, TR. 250 (Masaitis); leukemia, TR. 1199 (Dr. Phillip Cole, Defendants' expert epidemiologist). And, no one disputes that benzene exposure causes pancytopenia, which is a forerunner of lymphoma, and which Mr. Watts suffered from in addition to his non-Hodgkins lymphoma.⁸ TR. 565 (Dr. Barry Levy, plaintiff's expert epidemiologist; TR. 1290 (Dr. Cole, Defendants' epidemiologist). Indeed, the API Toxicological Review of 1948 confirmed that benzene exposure could result in "a reduction

⁷ James Wells, a former employee of and trial consultant for Radiator Specialty testified that Liquid Wrench contained benzene beginning in 1941, and also testified that it contained benzene beginning in 1951. JW Depo. at 47, 60. Later, he testified that Radiator Specialty did not begin using Raffinate in its products until 1960. TR. 1345. Construing this evidence in the plaintiff's favor, as the standard of review requires, then 1941 is the year in which Liquid Wrench is construed to have begun containing benzene. *See Medley v. Carter*, 234 So.2d 334, 335 (Miss. 1970).

⁸ As set forth below, defendants challenged Dr. Levy's opinions and conclusions that Mr. Watts's non-Hodgkins lymphoma was caused by his exposure to benzene. They did not challenge his assertion that benzene exposure causes pancytopenia.

in red-cell, white-cell, or platelet levels – in any two of these, or in all three" – pancytopenia. PEX 1 at p. 3-4 (API Toxicological Review, Benzene, 1948).

What the parties contested was whether Mr. Watts's non-Hodgkins lymphoma was caused by his benzene-containing Liquid Wrench exposure. Plaintiff's expert epidemiologist, Dr. Levy, testified that Mr. Watts's benzene exposure caused *both* his non-Hodgkins lymphoma and his pancytopenia. TR. 563, 565 (Dr. Levy). Defendants' expert epidemiologist, Dr. Cole, testified to the contrary, asserting that there was no relationship between Liquid Wrench or benzene and non-Hodgkins lymphoma. TR. 1210. Dr. Cole, however, did not controvert Dr. Levy's opinion that benzene exposure causes pancytopenia. *See* TR. 1290.

After hearing the testimony of Drs. Levy and Cole, the jury found that Defendants' conduct caused Mr. Watts's "illness or disease." 16 CR 2253 *et seq.*; "Jury Instruction No. ____," at RECORD EXCERPT 5. The jury thus determined that the following parties were liable for Mr. Watts's "illness or disease":

Watts's former employers: <u>15%</u>

Radiator Specialty Co.: <u>40%</u>

U.S. Steel: <u>45%</u>

Total: ______100%_

16 CR 2254-55.

î.

١

Ì

Į

[

ŗ

ł

÷

' .

ţ

i.

ļ

•

i.

i.

i i

i.

After initially entering judgment on the jury verdict, the trial court granted Defendants' request for judgment NOV, based *solely* on their challenges to Dr. Levy's conclusions that Mr. Watts's exposure to benzene caused his non-Hodgkins lymphoma. 17 CR 2487-88. The trial court then entered a take-nothing judgment against plaintiff. Plaintiff prosecutes this appeal of the trial court's take-nothing judgment following its granting of judgment NOV in Defendants' favor.

r

1

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In determining whether the trial court erred in granting a judgment NOV, this Court considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party – the plaintiff – and gives them the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. *General American Life Ins. Co. v. McCraw*, 2007 WL 1631053 *1 (Miss. 2007). The Court considers the evidence offered by the plaintiff and any uncontradicted evidence offered by the defendants. *Smith v. Parkerson Lumber, Inc.*, 888 So.2d 1197, 1202 (Miss. 2004) (citing *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So.2d 30 (Miss. 2003)). If the considered evidence is sufficient to support a verdict for the plaintiff, reversal of the judgment NOV is proper. *See id.*

The Court reviews the trial court's decision to allow or disallow evidence, including expert testimony, by applying an abuse of discretion standard. *Webb v. Braswell*, 930 So.2d 387, 396-97 (Miss. 2006).

-8-

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is undisputed that Milton Watts was diagnosed with: (1) pancytopenia; and (2) non-Hodgkins lymphoma. The jury was broadly instructed to find whether Defendants caused Mr. Watts's "illness or disease." The jury found Defendants did and returned a verdict in Mr. Watts's favor.

ŀ

[

1

ł

k

ĺ.

ŧ.

After initially entering judgment on the verdict, the trial court granted Defendants' request for judgment NOV <u>solely</u> on the ground that plaintiff's expert's causation testimony regarding his non-Hodgkins lymphoma did not meet *Daubert* and should have been excluded. Defendants did not challenge, and the trial court did not exclude, the expert testimony that benzene exposure caused Mr. Watts's pancytopenia. Because pancytopenia is an "illness or disease" that the jury found was caused by Defendants' conduct, and because Defendants did not challenge that finding, that unchallenged finding supports a judgment in Mr. Watts's favor. Thus, reversal and rendition of judgment on the jury verdict is proper.

Alternatively, the trial court erred in determining *after* the jury had returned a verdict, and *after* the trial court had entered judgment on the verdict, that the plaintiff's expert's testimony should have been excluded under *Daubert*. Because the trial court erroneously excluded plaintiff's expert's testimony after the verdict, reversal and rendition of judgment on the jury verdict is proper for that reason, too. No other ground asserted by Defendants supports their request for judgment NOV. Thus, this Court should reverse and render judgment on the jury verdict.

-9-

ARGUMENT I

ł

ŧ

1

i.

1

i :

į

į.

Whether the trial court erred in granting judgment NOV after excluding the causation testimony regarding Mr. Watts's non-Hodgkins lymphoma when an alternative, unchallenged finding that Defendants caused his pancytopenia supports the jury's verdict and judgment in plaintiff's favor.

Findings of fact that are supported by credible evidence may not be set aside. *Allgood* v. *Allgood*, 473 So.2d 416, 421 (Miss. 1985); *see also Herrington v. Spell*, 692 So.2d 93, 99 (Miss. 1997), *overruled on other grounds*, *Whittington v. Mason*, 905 So.2d 1261, 1266 (Miss. 2005). When a jury has returned a verdict in a civil case, the court is not at liberty to direct that judgment be entered contrary to the jury's verdict unless no reasonable, hypothetical juror could have found as the jury did. *Busick v. St. John*, 856 So.2d 304, 307 (Miss. 2003). Moreover, the issue of causation is generally one that is determined by the jury, not by the court as a matter of law. *Id*.

Here, the jury was instructed to answer a broad question: Did Defendants cause Mr. Watts's "illness or disease"? The jury was not instructed to answer whether Defendants caused Mr. Watts's non-Hodgkins lymphoma. The jury found for Mr. Watts, and answered that Defendants had caused his illness or disease.

The evidence reflects that Mr. Watts had a dual diagnoses. Specifically, the notes of his treating physician, Dr. Clay, reflect that Mr. Watts suffered from both lymphoma and pancytopenia. PEX 62 (Clay 00000060, Bone Marrow Interpretation; Clay 00000030, Progress Note of 7/25/2000). His multiple diagnoses made the treatment of his lymphoma

more difficult. Indeed, his persistent pancytopenia delayed his chemotherapy. PEX 62 (Clay 00000052, Letter of 5/3/99). In short, it is undisputed that Mr. Watts suffered from both lymphoma and pancytopenia.

Dr. Levy, plaintiff's expert epidemiologist, reviewed Mr. Watts's medical records and the depositions of his treating physicians. TR. 561. Dr. Levy confirmed from his review that Mr. Watts had both non-Hodgkins lymphoma and pancytopenia. TR. 563-64. Dr. Levy described both. He explained that non-Hodgkins lymphoma is a "type of cancer," which is part of a number of "blood cancers." TR. 563. Pancytopenia, on the other hand, is a "disease or condition where the elements of the blood, the red blood cells, the white blood cells, the platelets which help the blood to clot are depressed, are lower in number." TR. 564. Those three depressed counts of platelets, white, and red bloods cells are collectively referred to as pancytopenia.⁹ *Id.*; PEX 1 at p. 3-4 (API Toxicological Review, Benzene, 1948).

With regard to what caused Mr. Watts's pancytopenia, Dr. Levy testified as follows:

- Q. You formed any opinion as to what role, if any, Mr. Watts' benzene exposure had on his development of pancytopenia?
- A. Yes.

ł

E

1 :

Ł

- Q. What is your opinion?
- A. That again to a reasonable degree of medical and scientific probability, Mr. Watts' pancytopenia, the depression of all three elements of the blood was caused by his exposure to benzene.

 ⁹ Individually, they are referred to as thrombocytopenia, leukopenia, and anemia.
Id. Dr. Levy's testimony regarding the three is confirmed by Mr. Watts's medical records. PEX 62 (Clay 00000030, Progress Note of 7/25/2000).

Q. Is there any debate within the medical and scientific community as to whether or not benzene exposures can cause pancytopenia?

A. No, there's not.

TR. 565.

1

E

ł

ŧ

ł

1

Neither Radiator Specialty nor U.S. Steel challenged Dr. Levy's conclusion that Mr. Watts's pancytopenia was caused by his exposure to benzene. And, neither party offered any evidence to the contrary. Thus, that Mr. Watts was diagnosed with a "disease" – pancytopenia, and that his disease was caused by benzene exposure was undisputed.

After considering this undisputed evidence that Mr. Watts had pancytopenia, which was caused by his benzene exposure, the jury properly found that Defendants' conduct caused Mr. Watts's "illness or disease." In their motions for judgment NOV, neither defendant challenged that finding. *See* RADIATOR SPECIALTY'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOV at p. 2 ¶¶ 6-8; U.S. STEEL'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOV at p. 1-3; 16 CR 2256-58.

Because neither defendant challenged the jury's finding that Defendants caused Mr. Watts's "illness or disease," pancytopenia, and because the undisputed evidence supports the jury's finding that Defendants did cause his pancytopenia, the trial court could not set aside the jury's finding. *Allgood*, 473 So.2d at 421; *Herrington*, 692 So.2d at 99. Likewise, the trial court could not properly enter judgment NOV, contrary to the jury's verdict. *See Busick v. St. John*, 856 So.2d 304, 307 (Miss. 2003). Thus, reversal and rendition on the jury's verdict is proper. *See Amsouth Bank v. Gupta*, 838 So.2d 205, 222 (Miss. 2003) (reversing and remanding for new trial on compensatory damages only because of unappealed liability finding).

ARGUMENT II

Whether the trial court erred in its post-verdict striking of the plaintiff's expert's causation testimony regarding Mr. Watts's non-Hodgkins lymphoma, and in granting judgment NOV in defendants' favor based on that post-verdict striking of the expert's testimony.

1. <u>The Modified Daubert Standard.</u>

This Court adopted the modified Daubert¹⁰ standard in Mississippi Transp. Comm'n

v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 35 (Miss. 2003). Applying this standard, the Court reviews the

trial court's post-trial decision to exclude Dr. Levy's causation testimony regarding Mr.

Watts's non-Hodgkins lymphoma for an abuse of discretion. Rule 702 addresses the

admissibility of expert testimony:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

MISS. R. EVID. 702.

Under Rule 702, expert testimony is admissible if it withstands a two-pronged inquiry.

First, the witness must be qualified by virtue of his knowledge, skill, experience or education.

¹⁰ Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993), as modified in Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S.137 (1999).

McLemore, 863 So.2d at 35. Second, the witness's scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge must assist the trier of fact in understanding or deciding a fact in issue. *Id.* In other words, the witness must be qualified, and his testimony must be both relevant and reliable. *Id.*; *Webb v. Braswell*, 930 So.2d 387, 397 (Miss. 2006).

1.

ł

Ì

Į

f

t

r .

,

i

:

!

i

!

į

ί.

í

ŧ :

i.

The proponent of the testimony must show that the expert did not base his conclusions on opinions or speculation, but on scientific methods and procedures. *Webb*, 930 So.2d at *id.* To be relevant¹¹ and reliable, the testimony must be scientifically valid and capable of being applied to the facts at issue. *Id.*

This Court has noted that, in *Daubert*, the United States Supreme Court adopted a non-exhaustive, illustrative list of reliability factors for determining admissibility of expert testimony. *McLemore*, 863 So.2d at 36. Those factors include: (1) whether the theory or technique can and has been tested; (2) whether it has been subjected to peer review and publication; (3) whether, in a particular technique, there is a high known or potential rate of error; (4) whether there are standards controlling the technique's operation; and (5) whether the theory or technique enjoys general acceptance within a relevant scientific community. *Id.* at 37. The focus of those factors is on the principles and methodology, not on the conclusions they generate. *Id.* at 37. The reliability inquiry contemplated by Rule 702 is a flexible one. *Id.*

¹¹ As Dr. Levy's testimony goes to general and specific causation, it is undisputed that it is relevant. MISS. R. EVID. 402.

2. <u>The Application of the Modified Daubert Standard To Dr. Levy's Testimony.</u>

A. Dr. Levy is well-qualified.¹²

Dr. Levy is a medical doctor who graduated from Cornell Medical School. TR. 530. Dr. Levy also received a Master's Degree in Public Health from Harvard. *Id.* He is board certified in internal medicine and preventive and occupational medicine. Tr. 531. He is the former President of the American Public Health Association. TR. 559.

Dr. Levy's first job was as an epidemiologist for the Centers for Disease Control (CDC). TR. 532. He was at the CDC from 1973-1976. TR. 533. He joined the faculty of the University of Massachusetts after leaving the CDC and began teaching, doing research, and clinical work. TR. 539. He has worked for the United States government in Kenya. TR. 540-41.

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