SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2006-CA-01128

MILTON WATTS

APPELLANT

V.

RADIATOR SPECIALTY COMPANY AND UNITED STATES STEEL CORPORATION

APPELLEES

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Smith County, Mississippi Cause No. 2002-364

BRIEF OF APPELLEE UNITED STATES STEEL CORPORATION

FRED KRUTZ
PHILLIP S. SYKES
FORMAN PERRY WATKINS KRUTZ
& TARDY LLP

Suite 100, City Centre 200 South Lamar Street PO Box 22608

Jackson, MS 39225-2608 Telephone: (601) 960-8600 Facsimile: (601) 960-8613 MARY CLAY W. MORGAN
BRADLEY ARANT ROSE & WHITE LLP
Suite 450, One Jackson Place
188 East Capitol Street
PO Box 1789
Jackson, MS 39215-1789
Telephone: (601) 948-8000

Facsimile: (601) 948-3000

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

Plaintiff claims in his brief that the Defendants did not challenge Dr. Levy's opinion that benzene caused Plaintiff's pancytopenia. Brief of Appellant at 10-13. This assertion is simply incorrect. The Defendants moved to strike Dr. Levy's testimony in its entirety, both pre-trial, during trial, and post-trial.⁸ R. 1521, 1530; Tr. 557-58; R. 2256. As U.S. Steel stated in support of its motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict:

⁸ Of course, the defendants' pre-trial motion to strike Dr. Levy's testimony does not specifically mention Dr. Levy's opinion regarding pancytopenia, because Plaintiff did not disclose that opinion prior to trial. R. at 1388 (Levy affidavit stating he was "employed by plaintiff's counsel in this case to determine whether or not Milton Watts' non-Hodgkin's lymphoma was due to his occupational exposure to Liquid Wrench") (emphasis added).

Plaintiff offers no support for the statement that "the conclusion that benzene exposure causes pancytopenia is widely accepted in the medical, scientific and occupational hygiene communities." Without the proper epidemiological support, which defendants have already shown to be sorely lacking, Dr. Levy's testimony to this conclusion was scientifically unreliable. Again, contrary to Plaintiff's suggestion, defendants were not required to "disprove" this statement (although they have), other than to show, as defendants have done, that Dr. Levy had no basis for testifying to such a conclusion in the first place, and therefore should not have been permitted to testify to it before the jury.

R. 2451-52. The trial court considered Defendants' objections to *all* of Dr. Levy's testimony in reaching its decision, and acted within its discretion in striking Dr. Levy's testimony in its entirety.

As Dr. Levy's testimony was the only evidence of causation that Plaintiff offered at trial, the trial court correctly granted judgment in Defendants' favor notwithstanding the verdict after striking Dr. Levy's testimony. This Court should affirm the trial court's ruling.

II. Plaintiff's Claims are Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

Even if the Court finds the trial court abused its discretion in excluding Dr. Levy's testimony and granting judgment to Defendants on that basis, alternative grounds support affirmance of the trial court's result. All of Plaintiff's claims are time-barred, and judgment for the Defendants should be upheld on that basis alone.

The statute of limitations applicable to Plaintiff's claims is Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 which provides, in relevant part:

- (1) All actions for which no other period of limitations is prescribed shall be commenced within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after.
- (2) In actions for which no other period of limitations is prescribed and which involve latent injury or disease, the cause of action does not accrue until the plaintiff has discovered, or by reasonable diligence should have discovered, the injury.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49. Under this statute, the latest date on which Plaintiff could have filed his claims is three years after he discovered his injury. Id.

Plaintiff was first diagnosed with a blood disease in June 1998, and was specifically diagnosed with small cell lymphocytic lymphoma in March 1999. At that time, Plaintiff was indisputably aware of the injury or disease which is the basis of this litigation. Therefore, his cause of action accrued, *at the latest*, in March 1999. Plaintiff filed the Complaint in this action on October 11, 2002 – three years and six months after the latest possible date that his cause of action accrued. Because this lawsuit was filed more than three years after the date on which Plaintiff learned he had been diagnosed with small cell lymphocytic lymphoma, Plaintiff's claims are barred by the explicit language of the statute.

Plaintiff admits he failed to file his claim within three years of his diagnosis. However, Plaintiff claims that the discovery rule contained in § 15-1-49(2) tolls the operation of the three-year statute of limitations applicable to his claims until he not only discovered his injury, but until he "discovered" the alleged cause and identified an alleged causal relationship between his injury and the actions of Defendants. *See* Appellant's Brief at 29.

Plaintiff's argument that his claim survives the bar of the statute of limitations is based on the fallacy that the discovery rules for all statutes of limitations are identical. Plaintiff cites *PPG Architectural Finishes, Inc. v. Lowery*, 909 So. 2d 47, 50 (Miss. 2005) for the proposition that under § 15-1-49, his claim did not accrue until he discovered an alleged causal connection between Defendants' actions and his cancer. In *Lowery*, the Court was not faced with the issue of whether the discovery rule in § 15-1-49 tolls the running of the statute until the plaintiff discovers both an injury and the alleged cause. Rather, the dispute in *Lowery* was whether the discovery rule applied to the plaintiff's non-latent injury. *Lowery*, 909 So. 2d at 50. The *Lowery* Court discussed the discovery rule's application to the various limitations periods in the Mississippi Code. *Id.* The section from *Lowery* on which Plaintiff relies is a quote from *Sweeney v. Preston*, 642 So. 2d 332, 334 (Miss. 1994), a medical malpractice case. *Id.* As

discussed below, the Mississippi Legislature has drafted different discovery and accrual rules for the various limitations periods in the Mississippi Code. To the extent *Lowery* can be read to equate the discovery rule found in the medical malpractice statute of limitations with the discovery rule found in §15-1-49(2), that holding would be inconsistent with this Court's prior precedent and the clear wording of §15-1-49(2).

In fact, the Mississippi Legislature and the Mississippi Supreme Court have clearly rejected this proposition and established that the discovery rule in the general statute of limitations in § 15-1-49, unlike the discovery rules applicable to other limitations periods in the Mississippi Code, tolls the statutory period *only* until the plaintiff discovered, or should have discovered, his *injury*. Discovery of the alleged cause of the injury is irrelevant. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49(2); *Owens-Illinois, Inc. v. Edwards*, 573 So. 2d 704, 709 (Miss. 1990); *accord Pollard v. Sherwin-Williams Co.*, 2005 WL 2141454, No. 2003-CA-02030-COA, at *4 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) ("[T]he accrual date for a cause of action [arises] on the date the illnesses [are] *diagnosed* by a doctor.") (emphasis added) (*citing* Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49).

The operative date for accrual is different under other statutes of limitations in the Mississippi Code. Unlike the general statute of limitations applicable here, the medical malpractice statute of limitations is tolled until "the date the alleged act, omission or neglect shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered." Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 (2) (emphasis added). Similarly, claims accrue under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act statute of limitations based on "the date of the tortious, wrongful or otherwise actionable conduct." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(3) (emphasis added). In drafting the statutes of limitation governing claims of medical malpractice and governmental liability, the Mississippi Legislature intentionally prescribed different triggers for accrual under these shorter limitations

periods. This Court's decisions interpreting these other statutes reflect the different accrual standards that apply:

- Sarris v. Smith, 782 So. 2d 721 (Miss. 2001) (interpreting Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36, the two-year statute of limitations applicable to medical malpractice claims);
- Williams v. Kilgore, 618 So. 2d 51, 53, 55 (Miss. 1993) (interpreting medical malpractice action governed by "the more liberal" § 15-1-36, but acknowledging that § 15-1-49, by contrast, is triggered "when the plaintiff can reasonably be held to have knowledge of the *injury or disease*") (emphasis added);
- Punzo v. Jackson County, 861 So. 2d 340 (Miss. 2003) (interpreting Miss. Code
 Ann. § 11-46-11, the one-year statute of limitations applicable to claims against a
 state entity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act).

The language of these other statutes focuses on the acts of the defendant; in contrast, the controlling statute here turns on the date the "plaintiff discovered, or by reasonable diligence should have discovered, the injury." Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49(2) (emphasis added). In no uncertain terms, the general statute of limitations makes the date of the plaintiff's discovery of his injury the operative date for running of the statute of limitations. Under § 15-1-49, neither knowledge of a specific defendant's acts nor knowledge of a connection between the defendant's acts and the injury is required to start the running of the statute.

This Court has discussed the important distinction between the statute of limitations at issue in the instant case, as opposed to other limitations periods in the Mississippi Code. The Court has plainly stated that a plaintiff's product liability claims involving a latent injury or

⁹ In a recent opinion interpreting the medical malpractice statute of limitations, this Court highlighted the different accrual standards and discovery rules that apply to different statutes of limitations. *See Sutherland v. Ritter*, 2007 Miss. LEXIS 226 (Miss. 2007).

disease accrue on the date the plaintiff is diagnosed, even though the plaintiff may not know of the alleged causal connection between his injuries and the defendants' acts until a later time.

Owens-Illinois, Inc. v. Edwards, 573 So. 2d 704, 709 (Miss. 1990). The Edwards Court held the plaintiff's claims to be time-barred since he failed to file his claim within three years of his diagnosis, stating:

The cause of action accrues and the limitation period begins to run when the plaintiff can reasonably be held to have knowledge of the injury or disease. In the case at bar, that date is August 26, 1986, the date Charles Edwards was diagnosed with asbestosis. Though the cause of the injury and the causative relationship between the injury and the injurious act may also be ascertainable on this date, these factors are not applicable under § 15-1-49(2) as they are under Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36.

Id. at 709 (emphasis added). Thus, in its holding in *Edwards*, considering the latent disease of asbestosis, the Mississippi Supreme Court clearly held that the factors affecting the date a statute of limitations begins to run are different for the various limitations periods found elsewhere in the Mississippi Code. The *Edwards* Court also made it abundantly clear that, while the date a plaintiff learns of a causal relationship between the act of a defendant and his injury may be a relevant inquiry under some statutes of limitations, it is simply not a factor under Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49. Under § 15-1-49, the statute of limitations that controls in the instant litigation, the date a plaintiff is diagnosed with a disease is the *only* date that matters under the discovery rule. Therefore, Plaintiff's claims in this action accrued in March 1999, and Plaintiff was required to file his claims before March 2003. He failed to do so.

The Southern District of Mississippi followed this Court's holding in *Edwards* in two similar benzene exposure cases. *Wells v. Radiator Specialty Company, et al.*, 413 F.Supp.2d 778, 782-83 (S.D. Miss. 2006); *Fowler v. First Chemical Corporation, et al.*, 2006 WL 2527317 at *2 (S.D. Miss. 2006) ("The Mississippi Supreme Court has clearly held that a cause of action based on latent injuries accrues on the date of diagnosis."). In *Wells*, the plaintiff's decedent was

diagnosed with acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) on November 3, 2000. Wells, 413

F.Supp.2d at 779. The plaintiff failed to file her claims until October 22, 2004, nearly four years later. Id. Like Plaintiff here, the Wells plaintiff attempted to avoid the operation of the three-year statute of limitations by arguing that the statute of limitations was tolled until she allegedly discovered that the cause of the decedent's AML was his exposure to benzene. Id. at 781. The Wells court rejected this argument:

There is no dispute as to when Mr. Wells was diagnosed with AML, November 3, 2000. The plaintiff's argument that the causative relationship of the disease and the decedent's alleged occupational exposure to benzene was not known at that time cannot carry the day in light of *Owens-Illinois'* holding that causative knowledge is not applicable under § 15-1-49.

The Mississippi Legislature has established a three year window of opportunity for the discovery of any relationship between an injury and its cause by way of [§ 15-1-49]. The Legislature has determined that three years is an adequate time to discover a relationship between an injury and its cause and that suit beyond that period should not be allowed. That is peculiarly a legislative function upon which courts should not intrude.

Id. at 783.10

¹⁰ A review of the history and purpose of the discovery rule in § 15-1-49(2) compels this interpretation. In its first incarnation, dating back to 1880, Mississippi's general statute of limitations did not include a discovery rule:

All actions for which no other period of limitation is prescribed shall be commenced within six years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 (1972); Miss. Code Ann. § 722 (1956); see also Ford Motor Co. v. Broadway, 374 So. 2d 207, 208 (Miss. 1979). The Mississippi Supreme Court interpreted this statute strictly, holding that a cause of action "accrued" on the date of the alleged wrongful act or omission, regardless of when the injury occurred. M.T. Reed Construction Co. v. Jackson Plating Co., 222 So. 2d 838, 840 (Miss. 1969) (declining to adopt discovery rule as "no exception has been engrafted upon our statute which would take into consideration the ignorance of an individual"); see also Kilgore v. Barnes, 508 So. 2d 1042, 1044 (Miss. 1987) ("If this action were governed by our general, catch-all statute of limitations, Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 (1972), we would hold it barred. Under that statute, we have heretofore held that claims accrue and the clock begins to tick on the date of the wrongful act complained of.") However, in the case of latent diseases that may develop many years after the alleged wrongful acts, this rule worked an injustice. See Edwards, 573 So. 2d at 708 ("In the context of a latent disease cause of action, it would be illogical to equate the time of the wrongful act or omission, in this case the last exposure to the allegedly harmful or defective product, with the time of the injury.")

In the case at hand, the discovery rule in § 15-1-49(2) tolled the statute of limitations governing Plaintiff's claim for more than 20 years from the time of his last exposure in 1978 until the diagnosis of his injury in 1999. After his injury was diagnosed, Plaintiff bore the burden, like any plaintiff, to investigate and file his claim within the three-year statutory period. Because he failed to do so, Plaintiff's claims are time-barred as a matter of law. Therefore, even if the Court finds the trial court erred in excluding the testimony of Dr. Levy, the judgment in Defendants' favor notwithstanding the verdict should be affirmed.

III. Plaintiff's Failure to Warn Claims are Completely Preempted by the FHSA.

A. The FHSA Imposes Mandatory Labeling Requirements Which Apply to Liquid Wrench.

The FHSA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1261-1278, was enacted in 1960 to "provide nationally uniform requirements for adequate cautionary labeling of packages of hazardous substances which are sold in interstate commerce and are intended or suitable for household use." H.R. Rep. No. 1861 (1960), reprinted in 1960 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2833, 2833. The FHSA imposes mandatory labeling requirements for "hazardous substances which are sold in interstate commerce and are intended or suitable for household use." H.R. Rep. No. 1861 (1960), reprinted in 1960 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2833. Any "toxic" substance, defined as a substance having "the capacity to produce personal injury or illness to man through ingestion, inhalation, or absorption through any body surface," is a hazardous substance subject to the FHSA. 15 U.S.C. § 1261(g).

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